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Chairman’s Statement
Given the high profile nature of Lottotech’s operations,
values such as integrity, transparency, good corporate
governance and social responsibility are fundamental
in inspiring public confidence and credibility as a
lottery operator.
As the Chairman of the Board of Lottotech, I am
delighted to see the company continuing on the path
of positive influence by generating funds for Good
Causes in Mauritius. Our sustainable growth strategy
has led to long term responsible growth for Good
Causes, making Mauritius a better place to live while
reinforcing our reputation for running our operations
cost-effectively. The company’s performance during
the 18 month period ending 31 December 2013 led to
an additional Rs605 Million being generated for Good
Causes in Mauritius, bringing the total contribution
to the Consolidated Fund to over Rs 2.5 Billion since
having launched in 2009. The positive impact that our
operation has on the current and future health of our
beautiful country is one that we are highly proud of.
During this 18-month period, we have been very
encouraged by the successful initiatives the Lottotech
team implemented. By creating the Games Committee
in addition to the Audit and Governance Committees,
we deployed a Quick Win Turnaround Strategy which
led to important product launches and double digit
increases in average weekly sales. Most notably, we
invested in growing our retail network by over 300
locations to achieve 895 active retailers, a number that
will continue to grow into 2014. These two aspects of
the strategy reflect our commitment to provide our
players with enjoyable products and convenient access.
To ensure continued sustainable growth in shareholder
returns and funding for Good Causes, the Board of
Directors will remain focused on three priorities. First,
we will continue holding Lottotech Management
accountable for the execution of the agreed-upon
long term strategy. Second, we will continue ensuring
that Lottotech is led by a strong and experienced
Management team today and into the future. Third,
we will ensure that the company is supported by the
appropriate governance structures, setting the tone of
doing the right thing.

As we move forward taking the company to the
next level, I believe it is important to strengthen and
diversify the Board of Directors expertise. As such, in
2013 the Board appointed Alex Burstein, who brings
over three decades of international lottery and gaming
experience, in the capacity of Non-Executive Director.
Further complementing Alex’s addition, I’m happy
to announce that three Independent Non-Executive
Directors will be appointed in May 2014. Robert
Chowvee Ip Min Wan, Managing Director of Ip Min
Wan Ltd will bring deep financial services and audit
experience in addition to Board experience in a
publicly listed company. Anwar Moollan, barrister
with the Chambers of Sir Hamid Moollan QC will bring
both Board experience and a strong legal background.
Ian Shepherd an experienced businessman with
expertise in advertising, communications, research
and leadership coaching will bring valuable insight, as
Lottotech’s core competency is marketing.
Looking ahead, as the company continues to
implement its strategy of sustainable and responsible
growth, we will have to continue to innovate, think
differently and accept new ways of doing things.
The Board of Directors believes that the company has
now reached a stage in its development where a listing
on the Official List of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius
is appropriate. This will provide greater flexibility for
the planning and financing of the future growth of
the company. Through the democratization of the
shareholding of the company it will give an opportunity
to Mauritians to participate in the success and profits
of the company further integrating Lottotech into the
economic life of Mauritius. We are confident that these
changes will deliver more value.
Delivering and executing this level of change requires
hard work, perseverance and commitment. As such,
on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank Lottotech’s
management team and all of the talented and dedicated
employees throughout the Company – all of whom
have responded to the challenges of the year with the
highest standards of commitment, professionalism
and drive. I also thank the Board of Directors for their
continued support, advice and commitment and look
forward to a successful and profitable year in 2014
which marks our fifth anniversary.

Carl Ah Teck
Chairman, Board of Directors
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Chief Executive Officer’s statement
Our year in review
I am delighted to report on yet another exceptional year
for Lottotech. Turnover for the 18 month period ending
December 31, 2013 amounted to Rs 3,876,363,745
resulting in a profit after tax of Rs 343,460,065. Prizes
returned to players were more than Rs 1,9 billion and
commissions paid to our retail partners exceeded Rs
214 million. I share the pride of our Chairman seeing
our contribution to the Consolidated Fund increase by
over Rs 605 Million to a total of over Rs 2.5 Billion going
to good causes since the launch.
The continued success of Lottotech is driven by our
flagship brand, Loto. This brand has nearly 100%
unaided awareness and is regularly played by almost
70% of the adult population of Mauritius. While the
record jackpot of Rs 77 Million in December 2013 played
an important role in the overall sales performance, we
also realized continued growth in sales at the lowest
jackpot levels - a definite indicator of a strong and
healthy brand. Loto created 28 jackpot winners and 39
millionaires during this period.
The performance of Instant Games was not as
consistent during this period. We saw sales of Instant
games decline during the first 10 months in the 18
month period. However, the Lottotech team took
decisive action to rejuvenate the category through a
series of new game launches and the addition of 55%
more retailers which drove a nearly 50% increase in
average weekly sales during the last eight months of
the year.
From an operations perspective, Lottotech also
achieved important results in 2012-13. We achieved the
ISO 27001 certification, which is currently the world’s
highest standard for information security management
systems. A new warehouse was opened at ex-Socota
Building in Phoenix as part of our business continuity
plan to reduce our risk of relying on one location for
storage of our instant tickets.
We continued to invest in our #1 asset, our people, by
supporting them in professional training and offering
them numerous career advancement opportunities.
The Hay Group was engaged to develop a fair and
factual job grading structure which will be fundamental
in rolling out important initiatives in talent and
performance management and succession planning. A
Balanced Scorecard based performance Management
System was put in place to align the team and
individual performance with the strategic objectives

of the company. The company was restructured to
better align with our strategic objectives. Mr. Jean
Marc Landry was recruited from a world class lottery
in Atlantic Canada to fill the newly formed position of
Chief Marketing and Sales Officer. Jean Marc has deep
experience in marketing, sales and lottery. He will lead
the execution of the marketing and sales strategy as
well as sharing his experience and knowledge with the
Lottotech team.
Moving confidently into 2014
With 2013 having closed, we look forward to an even
stronger 2014. The focus will remain on achieving
sustainable and responsible growth in turnover in order
maximize the contribution for good causes by putting
our players first.
Putting our players first means being relevant, creating
more personalized and rewarding experiences.
Last year, we worked with Ipsos Reid, a renowned
International research company, to conduct the first
market segmentation study for Lottotech. The study
revealed important insights about our players and
their preferences and has paved the way for important
future projects. These include a Digital Strategy which
will guide our footprint and investment in the digital
realm, and continued research and development
efforts invested into our core business of Loto and
Instant games.
We will continue to work hard to maintain high levels
of trust and transparency with all of our stakeholders.
Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) is a fundamental
anchor to our growth strategy and we are committed to
fully integrating the social, economic and environmental
pillars of CSR into how we operate our business As such,
we will focus our efforts to increase our World Lottery
Association (WLA) Responsible Gaming accreditation
from Level 1 to Level 3 in 2014 and achieve the highest
accreditation of Level 4 by 2015. We will also invest in
understanding how our products and overall operation
impact the environment by soliciting the help of
industry experts to quantify our current impact and
identify key improvement objectives.
Throughout 2014, we will maintain our focus on creating
memorable player experiences and maximizing funds
for Good Causes. However by becoming a publicly
listed company on the Stock Exchange of Mauritius, we
will become a democratized company, one that exists
for the people of Mauritius and is owned by the people
of Mauritius.

Michelle J. Carinci
Chief Executive Officer
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors are pleased to present their annual report and the audited financial statements of Lottotech Ltd (“Company” or “Lottotech”)
for the period ended 31 December 2013.

Principal activity
The Company operates the Mauritius National Lottery on behalf of the Government of Mauritius.
Following a Request for Proposal issued by the State Investment Corporation Ltd in March 2008, the proposal of the Company including
its structured game plan was accepted and the Company was selected in July 2008 as the preferred bidder for the implementation and
operation of the Mauritius National Lottery. In April 2009, the Gambling Regulatory Authority (“GRA”) issued an exclusive licence to Lottotech
to operate the Mauritius National Lottery for a period of 10 years, renewable for further successive periods not exceeding 5 years each.
The activity of the Mauritius National Lottery, also called La Loterie Nationale, is regulated by the GRA Act 2007. Currently, the two lottery
games offered by the Company are the weekly Loto game and Quick Win games (also referred to as scratch cards).

Results and dividends
The Company’s turnover for the 18 months ended 31 December 2013 amounted to MUR3,876,363,745 (12 months ended
30 June 2012 – MUR2,596,359,420).
The Company made a profit after tax of MUR343,460,065 (12 months ended 30 June 2012 – MUR19,376,907) for the 18 months ended 31
December 2013.
The directors declared a dividend of MUR250,000,000 (12 months ended 30 June 2012 – MUR nil), of which MUR40,000,000 was payable as
at 31 December 2013.
The Company changed its accounting year-end from June to December. The Company has applied IAS 19 (as revised June 2011) “Employee
Benefits” and the related consequential amendments in advance of its effective date. The Company has applied IAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
retrospectively and in accordance with the transitional provisions as set out in IAS 19 (as revised in 2011). The opening statement of financial
position of the comparative period presented (1 July 2011) and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income have been
restated.

Market and performance review
The financial year 2012-13 is an 18 month period ended 31 December 2013. This was the fourth year of operations for Lottotech Ltd.
The Company engaged Ipsos Reid, an international firm with deep research experience in lottery worldwide, to conduct its first market
segmentation study this year which reported very high levels of approval for the operations of the lottery at 86%.
Loto maintained its position as the flagship brand and most popular lottery in Mauritius creating 28 jackpot winners and 39 millionaires. The
3 month period between July 2013 and September 2013 had the lowest aggregate jackpot offering (MUR164 million) since July 2010 as the
players were lucky and MUR5 million jackpots were frequently won thereby not allowing for rollovers. In December 2013, the cycle ended
with a jackpot of MUR77 million which was won by one individual. This was the largest jackpot of the 18 month period. Sales at the base
jackpot level of MUR5 million delivered a compound annual growth rate of 4%. The 52 week period of 2013 delivered an all-time sales record.
The total number of winning tickets created from Loto was 5.1 million totalling over MUR1.4 billion in prizes. The results of the 2013 ‘Market
Segmentation Study’ confirmed that Loto continues to be a leading brand in Mauritius with 100% awareness and 75% participation from the
adult population with an almost equal participation from male and female players.
The Quick Win games category required a complete rejuvenation strategy which was implemented in April 2013. The multi-faceted strategy
had an immediate impact resulting in an average weekly sales increase of 50% over the previous four months.
The retail expansion program began in late August 2013. As at 31 December 2013, the network had expanded to 895 from 574 retailers at
launch. The resulting per capita density of one retailer for every 1,463 residents is more closely aligned to global best practices. Incremental
sales as a result of the expansion are estimated to be 16% from the Quick Win games category and 12% from the weekly Loto game.
The per capita turnover as a percentage of per capita GDP is comparable to USA and UK lotteries at 0.4%. After four years of operation,
Mauritius ranks 102 globally in per capita sales with very high participation rates demonstrating that lotteries attract a large number of
players that spend a small amount on average MUR100 on a weekly basis.
The Consolidated Fund received more than MUR840 million in contributions offset by a one-off provision for Consolidated Fund charges of
MUR262 million related to prior periods. In addition, the National Solidarity Fund received over MUR62 million representing unclaimed prizes
during the period.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (contd.)

The Company continued its efforts to meet the highest level of the World Lottery Association (WLA) Responsible Gaming certification. The
ISO 27001 certification was awarded to the Company, demonstrating the commitment to world class information security management. A
Performance Management System was implemented during the period under review that is aligned with the Company’s Balanced Scorecard.

Future outlook
In spite of the current restrictions imposed by the GRA to withhold approval of new online games and certain enhancements, the forecast for
the next five years projects increases in revenue and profits as a result of the aforementioned Quick Win games rejuvenation plan, the retail
network expansion and certain Loto enhancements that fall within the parameters of the licence to operate. The Company could generate
a substantially higher increase in sales than the current forecast once the restrictions are lifted whilst continuing to apply the responsible
gaming principles adopted by the WLA. The current forecast is in line with the Company’s sustainable growth strategy.
On the other hand the cost structure is not expected to grow in line with sales as the Company continues its cost optimisation efforts over
the past two years.

Authorised for issue by the Board of directors on 26th March 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Ishwurlal Golam

Director

Director		
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

(Section 75(3) of the Financial Reporting Act)
Name of pie: Lottotech Ltd
Reporting period: 1st July 2012 to 31st December 2013 (18 months)
We, the Directors of Lottotech Ltd, confirm that to the best of our knowledge that Lottotech Ltd has not complied with the hereunder
sections of the Code, and reasons for the non- compliance are given in the attached Corporate Governance Report:
• S ection 2.8 – Remuneration of Directors – Due to the confidentiality of the information, no detailed breakdown of remuneration by director
is given in the Corporate Governance Report.
• S ection 2.10 – Board’s and Directors’ Appraisal – The Company did not carry out a formal Board and Directors’ appraisal because of a lack of
in-house expertise in the process. However, the Board shall aim at putting an independent and externally facilitated Board’s and Directors’
appraisal programme in place in the course of year 2014, in order to comply with this requirement of the Code.

Chian Yew Ah Teck

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Chairman		

Director		

26th March 2014

LOTTOTECH LTD 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(Including Statutory Disclosures Pursuant to Section 221 of the Companies Act 2001)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd.)

1.	Introductory note
Being part of the Gamma Group, Lottotech continues to be committed to Corporate Governance which is a fundamental part of the Board’s
responsibility to protect and enhance long term shareholders’ value and the financial performance of the Company, whilst taking into
account the interest of other stakeholders.
The Company, qualifying as a Public Interest Entity (“PIE”), complies with the recommendations of the Code of Corporate Governance for
Mauritius (the “Code”) and the governance guidelines and processes established by Gamma-Civic Ltd for good corporate governance.
The Company is fully committed to true and fair financial disclosure for its shareholders and all stakeholders at large. Furthermore, the
Company abides by the legal requirements of the Companies Act 2001 and the Financial Reporting Act 2004.
In this report, the Directors hereby report the extent to which Lottotech is complying with the Code, identify the areas not complied with and
give the reasons for the non-compliance.

2.	Role of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for steering, monitoring and overseeing the business and activity of the Company in order to safeguard and enhance
its total value and returns. It is the decision-making body for all matters which are of significance to the Company as a whole because of their
strategic, financial and reputational implications and/or consequences, while ensuring that management strikes the right balance between
delivering short and medium term objectives, and promoting long-term growth.

3.	Shareholding
The issued stated capital of the Company as at 31 December 2013 amounted to Rs100,000,000 made up of 100,000 ordinary shares of no
par value each.
The shareholding structure of Lottotech is as follows:

The State Investment
Corporation Ltd

Gamma - Civic Ltd

100%

Gamma
Leisure Ltd
18.75%

100%

100%

99%

Maurilot
Investments Ltd

Natlot
Investments Ltd

Glot Holdings
(Mauritius) Ltd

18.75%

18.75%

18.75%

25%

LOTTOTECH LTD

4. Constitution
The Company’s Constitution is in line with the Companies Act 2001 and has no material clauses requiring disclosure.
A copy of the Company’s Constitution is available at the registered office of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd.)

5. Board structure
The Company is presently led by a Board of eight Directors, comprising of three Executive and five Non-Executive Directors.

6. The Board of Directors
The Board has a key role in charting the strategic direction, development and control of the Company. The values and standards which are
applicable to the Company emanate from the Board of Directors.
The Board meets at least four times during any financial year and ad hoc meetings are called as and when the business of the Company
requires same.
The Chief Executive Officer is the principal representative of the Company’s business operations. She has a direct responsibility for business
and operational decisions of the Company. The Chief Executive Officer has the general authority of the Board to manage the Company.

7.	Role and function of the Chairman
The Chairman of the Company presides over the meeting of Directors and Shareholders to ensure the smooth functioning of the Board and
also to ensure that the Board carries its responsibilities efficiently. The Chairman provides leadership and establishes guiding principles for
the Board.
The Chairman ensures that resolutions of the Board are promptly executed and implemented by Management. The Chairman acts for and
on behalf of the Board and leads the Board of Directors. The Chairman has been appointed in April 2008 and will hold office until decided
otherwise by the Board and the Shareholders.
For the period under review, the Chairman has not carried out a valuation of performance of the Board’s or Directors’ appraisal. This is due to
a lack of in-house expertise. However going forward this subject shall be an agenda item for the Board to address.
The Chairman’s office with the assistance of the Company Secretary is in charge of the task of ensuring that proper induction is given
to any new Directors appointed to the Board. The Company has an induction pack which contains all corporate governance documents.
Newly appointed would be given a formal letter of appointment which clearly describes responsibility and fiduciary duties of the Director.
Further all directors are aware that their position as a Director of the Company carries with it significant personal liability and are encouraged
to contact the Chairman for any relevant education and development they may wish to take. The draft Board Charter clearly defines the
statutory responsibilities of all categories of Directors on the Board.
For the period under review, Gamma-Civic Ltd invited Professor Mervyn King to address Board members and senior management team of
Gamma-Civic Ltd and Group Companies on corporate governance and integrated reporting, and Board members and senior management of
Lottotech Ltd participated in that workshop. The Company encourages all directors and regularly sponsors Directors and senior management
to attend courses and seminars organised by the MIOD.

8. Directors’ profile
The profiles of the individual Directors are given below:
Chian Yew Ah Teck (also known as Carl Ah Teck) – Chairman
Carl holds a first class degree in Civil Engineering from Lancaster University and an MPhil. degree in Soil Mechanics from the University of
Cambridge. After university, he joined consulting firm Sir Alexander Gibb and Partners in Mauritius on several projects.
He has also attended several executive management programs at NUS/Stanford University, London Business School and INSEAD.
After 5 years with Gibb, where he held various positions in both the design office and on site for major projects, he founded Gamma
Construction Ltd in 1987 which was subsequently reorganized and called Gamma-Civic Ltd.
From 1987 until 2011, he was the Chief Executive of the Gamma Group before becoming the Executive Chairman of Gamma-Civic Ltd in
February 2011 and Chairman of Lottotech Ltd since 2 April 2008. He is a registered professional engineer.
Directorship in listed companies – Two (Gamma-Civic Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)
Chian Luck Ah Teck (also called Patrice Ah Teck) – Executive Director
Patrice holds a BA (Hons) Accounting and Finance from South Bank University. He worked as a Trainee Accountant with Nunn, Crick and
Bussell in the UK, and in 1993 he joined the Gamma Group as Sales and Marketing Manager. He was appointed Sales and Marketing Director
in 2000 and since 2011 he has occupied the post of Deputy Managing Director.
Directorship in listed companies – Two (Gamma-Civic Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (contd.)

8. Directors’ profile (contd)
Chian Tat Ah Teck (also called Tommy Ah Teck) – Executive Director
Tommy holds a BSc (Hons) Engineering from University of Westminster and an MPhil in Mechanical Engineering from Loughborough University of
Technology. He worked as a Trainee Accountant with Griffin & Partners, Chartered Accountants in London, UK. He occupied the post of Managing
Director of Gamma from 1987 to January 2011. He was appointed as CEO of Gamma as from February 2011.
Directorship in listed companies – Two (Gamma-Civic Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)
Paul Cyril How Kin Sang – Executive Director
Cyril studied accountancy at The University of West London and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. From
1985 to 1988, he trained and worked as a Chartered Accountant in the UK with a number of accounting firms including KPMG. He joined Gamma in
1989 and has occupied several posts within the Group, including Group Finance Director and is involved in the business development of the Group.
He was appointed as the Managing Director of Gamma in February 2011 and is the Supervisory Executive Director of Lottotech.
Directorship in listed companies – Two (Gamma-Civic Ltd & Morning Light Co Ltd)
Kune Foo Jean-Claude Lam Hung – Non-Executive Director
Jean-Claude is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He was awarded the Edward Billington Scholarship to read
BA (Hons) Business Studies at Liverpool John Moores University. He graduated with a first class honours degree. From 1998 to 2009, he trained
and qualified as a Chartered Accountant with Ernst & Young (London) before assuming senior manager and director roles at Deloitte (London) and
BDO (London) respectively. In November 2009, he became a partner at Mazars LLP (London) prior to joining Gamma as Group CFO in August 2012.
Directorship in listed companies – One (Morning Light Co Ltd)
Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham – Non-Executive Director
Iqbal is a fellow of the Hubert H. Humphrey program and studied International Economy at Boston University. He is a Fellow of the Mauritius
Institute of Directors. He holds a post-graduate degree in Management and Business from “Institut d’Administration des Enterprises”, Université
de Strasbourg. At present, he is the Managing Director of the State Investment Corporation Ltd. He has wide ranging experience in the financial
services sector and has been a consultant in corporate management, financial services, training and legal matters. He was the Associate Professor,
teaching graduate and postgraduate courses in Strategic Management and Negotiation Techniques at the two Universities in Mauritius as well as
for ‘Université de Poitiers/MCCI’ Program. He has formerly held important positions including Member of Parliament, Member of Public Accounts
Committee and Member of the Joint ACP-EU Bureau.
Directorship in listed companies – Three (Caudan Development Limited, Sun Resorts Limited & Constance Hotels Services Ltd)
Ishwurlal Golam – Non-Executive Director
Ishwurlal is a member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants and was a Gold medallist of the London Chamber of Commerce &
Industry. He has served at the Ministry of Finance in important positions before his appointment as Director, Concession Projects Division. He has
held the position of Group Administrator and Finance Manager at SIC since June 2002.
Directorship in listed companies – One (Morning Light Co Ltd)
Alex S. Burstein – Non-Executive Director
Alex holds a BSc Electrical Engineering from Carnegie-Mellon University in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. He worked at GTECH, the world leader in
gaming technology including application software, firmware, communications processing, and central systems software, where he held top
management posts. In 1998, he left GTECH and started his own company whereby he acted as a consultant and an advisor to a number of lottery
companies around the world.
Directorship in listed companies – None
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9. Board attendance
During the period under review, the Board of Directors met seven times and the attendance of the Directors at these meetings was as follows:
Directors	Meetings	Attendance
Chian Yew Ah Teck

7

7

Alex S. Burstein 1

7

2

Chian Tat Ah Teck

7

7

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

7

7

Chian Luck Ah Teck

7

7

Kune Foo Jean Claude Lam Hung 2

7

6

Ishwurlal Golam

7

7

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

7

5

Alex Fon Sing

7

1

3

		

1. Alex S. Burstein was appointed on 18 May 2013

		

2. Jean Claude Lam Hung was appointed on 8 October 2012

		

3. Alex Fon Sing resigned on 1 October 2012.

10.	Role of the Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is accountable to the Board through the Chairman for the duties and responsibilities as defined in the Companies
Act 2001, as well as for the Group corporate governance processes.
For the period under review Gamma Corporate Services Ltd is the Company Secretary for the Company. Gamma Corporate Services Ltd is
fully qualified as per the requirements of the Companies Act 2001. In addition to its duties and responsibilities as provided under the law,
the Company Secretary assists the Chairman in ensuring that sound governance practices permeate throughout Gamma-Civic Ltd and
the Group companies. Further the Company Secretary acts as the Compliance Officer for corporate governance principles, regulatory and
statutory requirements.
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11. Common Directors
The names of the common Directors within the holding structure at 31 December 2013 are as follows:

Kune Foo Jean Claude Lam Hung

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

*

*		 *			

Lottotech Ltd

*

*

*

Gamma Leisure Ltd

*

*

*		*			*

Maurilot Investments Ltd

*

*

*		*			*

Natlot Investments Ltd

*

*

*		*			*

Glot Holdings Ltd

*

*

*		*			*

*

*

*

Alex S. Burstein

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

Chian Luck Ah Teck

*

Ishwurlal Golam

Chian Yew Ah Teck

Gamma-Civic Ltd

*

*

12.	Senior management team
The Company is led by a CEO, who is appointed by the Board upon recommendation of the Corporate Governance Committee, and the
Company has also a Chief Operating Officer (“COO”), who acts as a deputy to the CEO. The contract of employment of the CEO is for a determined
period, which may be renewed upon mutual agreement of the parties, and the contract of the CEO has been renewed for a second term.
Hereunder is the profile of the Senior Management Team, which is composed of the CEO, the COO, the Chief Sales and Marketing Officer, the
Financial Controller, the Chief Technology Officer, the Chief Procurement Officer, the Security Manager and the Compliance and Risk Manager.
Profile of the senior management team is set out below:
Michelle J. Carinci – Chief Executive Officer
Michelle, a Canadian national, has proven leadership in operations and innovation both locally and internationally, with over 35 years’
experience in the gaming industry. Prior to joining Lottotech, Michelle held the position of CEO at Atlantic Lottery Corporation, which under
her leadership was recognised three times as one of Canada’s Top 100 Employers. As President and CEO of the Atlantic Lottery Corporation, she
developed and implemented a corporate social responsibility framework which strives to promote integrity, transparency and responsibility.
Prior to joining Atlantic Lottery Corporation, she was President of Gamescape, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GTECH and a Corporate Vice
President in charge of marketing and customer relations at GTECH.
She has also been recognised four times as one of the top 50 CEOs in Atlantic Canada and is an inductee into the Lottery Hall of Fame class of
2006. Michelle is also a strong promoter of responsible gaming having been one of the founding members of the Responsibility Program on
behalf of the WLA. Michelle also aided in the creation of responsible gambling principles and its associated frameworks and standards which
were unanimously approved by 140 organisations worldwide.
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12.	Senior management team (contd)
Moorghen Veeramootoo – Chief Operating Officer
Moorghen holds a BSc European Studies & Technology and a Master degree in Marketing from Coventry University in the UK. He is also a
holder of a Diplome Universitaire en Technologie from the Institut Universitaire de Technologie of Avignon in France. He has previously
occupied the post of Marketing and Sales Manager and Business Unit Manager at Gamma from 2004 to 2009. He has also worked as Marketing
Manager at Happy World Foods Ltd (now Innodis Ltd) from 1999 to 2004 and Cread & Co. Ltd in 1999. He joined Lottotech in 2009 and has
occupied the post of Deputy General Manager and presently holds the post of Chief Operating Officer.
Jean Marc Landry – Chief Sales and Marketing Officer
Jean Marc, a Canadian national, has a Bachelor degree in Business Administration (Finance) from the Université de Moncton, New Brunswick.
Prior to joining Lottotech, he worked at Atlantic Lottery Corporation for 8 years where he most recently held the position of Director of
Marketing (Retail). At Atlantic Lottery Corporation, he successfully led the implementation of the Quick Win rejuvenation plan to address
declining sales. This plan resulted in three consecutive years of record sales, as well as all-time sales record for the regional and national
lottery games.
Ansuya Seewooruthun – Financial Controller
Ansuya has a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting and Finance from the University of Mauritius. She also completed the ACCA qualification
and is currently doing a Master in Business Administration with the University of Bradford, UK. She has more than 10 years of experience in
accounting and finance in both local and international organisations. She joined Lottotech in December 2010 and is presently the Financial
Controller of Lottotech.
Harikrishna Ramsamy – Chief Technology Officer
Harikrishna has a Master in Business Administration from Heriot Watt University. He has over 20 years’ experience in the IT profession and was
appointed as Chief Technology Officer at Lottotech in 2011. He is responsible for the planning and execution of IT initiatives that support the
Company’s objectives. He also oversees and ensures the smooth and efficient running of the on-line lottery sales and IT services.
Jerry Lim How – Chief Procurement Officer
Jerry studied BSc Computer Science with Business Studies at the University of Buckingham in the UK and has an MSc Business Systems
Analysis and Design from City University in London. He worked as LPG Retail Supervisor and Planner from 1989 to 1997 and as Contracting
and Procurement Manager from 1997 to 2002 at Shell Mauritius Ltd. He joined Gamma in 2002 and acted as Group Procurement Manager
from 2002 to 2011. He transferred to Lottotech as Chief Procurement Officer in 2011.
Richard Papie – Security Manager
Richard joined Lottotech in 2009 and has over 24 years of experience within the security profession. He worked as a police officer for 7 years,
and held the position of security manager across a number of industries. Richard joined Lottotech in 2009 and he oversees, investigates and
liaises with the relevant legal and enforcement authorities to authenticate any winning tickets that may be in dispute.
Sivalingum Candassamy – Compliance and Risk Manager
Sivalingum holds an MSc in Computer Security and Forensics and a Master in Business Administration from the University Technology of
Mauritius. He joined Lottotech in 2009 and is in charge of the risk and compliance aspects of Lottotech’s operations. He assists management
in identifying key risks to the business and ensures that appropriate controls are in place to mitigate these to an acceptable level.
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13. Board committees
The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee, the Corporate Governance Committee and the Games Committee
(the “Board Committees”).
These Board Committees have been formed to efficiently manage the responsibilities of the Board and to facilitate efficient decision making
of the Board. They are a mechanism to assist the Board and its Directors in discharging their duties through comprehensive evaluation of
specific issues, by well-considered recommendations to the Board. However, the Board remains ultimately accountable and responsible for
the performance and the affairs of the Company.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board in relation to its reporting of:
(a)

Financial information;

(b) The appropriate application and amendment of accounting policies;
(c)

The identification and management of risk;

(d) The implementation of internal control systems; and
(e)

Internal audit, statutory and regulatory compliance.

The Audit Committee provides a forum for effective communication between the Board and the internal and external auditors, both of
whom report to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee is composed of the following Board members:
Audit Committee Members	Role
Ishwurlal Golam

Non-Executive Director & Chairman

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

Non-Executive Director

Chian Luck Ah Teck

Executive Director

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Executive Director

The Audit Committee holds quarterly meetings and its members scrutinize and share their views on all financial reports, the audited financial
statements as well as reports from the internal and external auditors.
For the period under review the Audit Committee met 6 times and the attendance of members was as per hereunder table:
Audit Committee Members	Meetings	Attendance
Ishwurlal Golam

6

6

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

6

1

Chian Tat Ah Teck

6

4

Chian Luck Ah Teck

6

6
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13. Board committees (cont’d)
Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee acts as a mechanism for making recommendations to the Board on all corporate governance matters
relevant to the Company to ensure that the Board remains effective and complies with the “Code” and prevailing corporate governance principles.
The Committee is also responsible for remuneration and nomination matters. The remuneration philosophy is geared towards rewarding
efforts and merits for individual and joint contribution to the Company’s results, whilst having also due regards to market conditions, the
interest of the shareholders and to the financial well-being of the Company.
The Corporate Governance Committee is composed of the following Board members:
Corporate Governance Committee Members	Role
Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

Non- Executive Director & Chairman

Chian Luck Ah Teck

Executive Director

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Executive Director

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

Executive Director

For the period under review the Committee met once and all members were in attendance.
Games Committee
By way of Board resolution a Quick Win Turnaround Committee (“QWTC”) was set up on 29th April 2013 to review the management strategy
to improve Quick Win games revenue.
After the rejuvenation plan was presented and approved by the Board in July 2013 and achieved its first successes, the Board decided that
the QWTC be renamed the Games Committee to review and implement future strategies for all of the games that the Company operates.
The Games Committee meets a minimum of 4 times a year, mainly before Board meetings to review progress of performance of current
games and to examine any new initiatives that will be presented to the Board for consideration.
The Games Committee is composed of the following Board members:
Games Committee Members	Role
Chian Luck Ah Teck

Executive Director & Chairman

Alex S. Burstein

Non-Executive Director

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

Executive Director

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

Non-Executive Director

The CEO, Mrs Michelle Carinci, and the COO, Mr Moorghen Veeramootoo, may be requested by the Committee to attend and contribute to
the Games Committee meetings.
For the period under review the Games Committee met 4 times and the attendance was as follows:
Games Committee Members	Meetings	Attendance
Chian Luck Ah Teck

4

4

Alex S. Burstein

4

3

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

4

4

Muhammad Iqbal Mallam-Hasham

4

0
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14. Code of conduct
As contained in the Gamma Charter, which is applicable to the Company being part of the Gamma Group of companies, the Code of Conduct
is based on a fundamental belief that business should be conducted honestly, fairly and legally. This commitment which is fully endorsed by
the Board applies to all employees to share its commitment to high moral, ethical and legal standards.

15. 	Safety, health and environment
The Company complies with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 2005 and other applicable legislative and regulatory frameworks. It is
committed to sustainable development and ensures that its operations are conducted in ways that minimize their impact on the environment
and on society at large.

16. Directors’ remuneration and benefits
Remuneration and benefits received and receivable by the Directors from the Company are as follows:
Remuneration and benefits paid by the Company

	MUR

Executive Directors

18,745,491

Non-Executive Directors

1,415,021

Note: The Directors’ remuneration is disclosed by category in view of the confidentiality of the information.

17. Directors’ share interests
Except for the Directors listed in the table below, the other directors do not hold directly or indirectly any share in the Company.
Director 		

Shareholding percentage

				

Direct	Indirect

Carl Ah Teck

-

12.72%

Tommy Ah Teck

-

12.72%

Patrice Ah Teck

-

12.72%

Paul Cyril How Kin Sang

-

13.56%

Jean-Claude Lam Hung

-

0.009%

18. Directors’ service contracts
The Directors have no service contracts with the Company.

19. Dividend policy
The Company shall distribute a minimum of 75% of its annual net profit after tax as dividends according to the Companies Act 2001, except
as otherwise resolved by the shareholders by way of ordinary resolution.
The Board has a target dividend policy whereby almost 100% of net profit after tax is declared as dividends, subject to the Company meeting
the Solvency Test.
The Board may deduct from any dividend payable to any shareholder any sums of money, if any, presently payable by such shareholder to
the Company on account of calls or otherwise in relation to the ordinary shares on which such dividends are payable.
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20.	Shareholders’ agreement
Gamma-Civic Ltd through its intermediate holding companies entered into a shareholders’ agreement with the State Investment Corporation
for Lottotech to implement and operate the Mauritius National Lottery and SIC became a shareholder of Lottotech. The agreement stipulates
that the parties shall cause Lottotech to obtain the licence to operate the Mauritius National Lottery and they shall not directly or indirectly
compete with Lottotech.

21.	Share option scheme
There is no share option scheme within the Company.

22.	Management agreement
In November 2009, Lottotech entered into a management services agreement with A.S. Burstein Management Ltd (“ASB”), a subsidiary of
Gamma-Civic Ltd, for the following services:
• Assisting and supervising management in the running of the operations;
• Business development;
• Marketing and sales and product development;
• Human resources and administrative support;
• Finance and procurement;
• Management information systems and security; and
• Legal, accounting, information technology, secretarial and risk management services.

23.	Auditors’ remuneration
For the period under review, the auditors’ fees paid by the Company are as per table below:
Auditors’ remuneration

Rs

Audit fees

620,000

Tax fees		

105,000

24.	Related party transactions
Please refer to Note 19 of the Financial Statements.

25. Contract of significance
The Company has no contract of significance with either a Director or a controlling shareholder, except for that disclosed in section 22.

26.	Risk management, internal controls and internal audit
In line with the provisions of the Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, the Board is responsible for the total process of risk
management and through the Audit Committee it ensures that the Company develops and executes a comprehensive and robust system of
risk management. The Audit Committee through its meetings with Management monitors the latter in relation to the implementation of the
overall strategy for risk tolerance as defined by the Board and management of the risks identified which may affect the business operations
and the Company as a whole.
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26.	Risk management, internal controls and internal audit (contd)
Management has identified key risks which are grouped by one of these categories:
• Strategic and regulatory;
• Technological;
• Reputational; and
• Financial
The Risk Management Framework (“RMF”) in place is an integral part of the management and decision making processes in the Company.
The RMF has been established based on the following principles:
• There is a clearly defined approach for risk management setting out its strategy and objectives and the approaches and processes that the
	Company adopts to achieve them;
• There is a clearly defined process to identify, assess and mitigate the significant risks to the achievement of business objectives; and
• There is an on-going process to monitor the risk profile and identifying and responding to significant issues and events.
On an annual basis, management is required to review the risk profile of their respective companies as part of the budgeting process.
The risks identified or updated are then discussed in a workshop comprising the Executive Chairman, members of the Management
Committee and management. This workshop is chaired by an independent person. Risks identified are recorded in risk register and risk heat
maps. Following the workshop, these risk registers and risk heat maps are put forward to the Audit Committee for review, following which
the Audit Committee may recommend to the Board for approval.
Further details on financial risks in relation to financial instruments for the Company are outlined in Note 3 of the Financial Statements.
Lottotech Ltd has established an internal control framework which comprises the following two main components:
• Management is responsible for the application of the RMF, for implementing and monitoring the operation of the system of internal
control and for providing assurance to the Audit Committee and the Board; and
• The Internal Audit Function provides independent assurance and objective assessment on the robustness of the RMF and the
appropriateness and effectiveness of internal control to the Audit Committee and the Board.
The Company has an internal audit function, which is carried out by Ernst & Young. The primary objective of Internal Audit is to deliver a
reasonable level of assurance to those in charge of governance that systems of control as established by management are appropriate and are
operating effectively. In other words, the main role of Internal Audit is to provide assurance that the business is managing its key risks effectively.
To fulfil its responsibilities, Internal Audit:
• Validates the key risks to the Company’s operations, in conjunction with management, the Audit Committee and the Board;
• Undertakes reviews as requested by management and the Audit Committee;
• Review the adequacy of the design and effectiveness of controls to manage key risks to the organisation and to ensure compliance with
policies, plan, procedures and business objectives established by management; and
• Review established procedures and systems and propose improvements (including those considered to be good industry practice advice).
To ensure independence, Internal Audit is directly accountable to the Audit Committee and the Board, to which it has free access. To maintain
objectivity, Internal Audit is not authorised to perform any day-to-day control activities or take operational responsibility for any part of the
company outside Internal Audit. Instead management is responsible for maintaining an efficient and effective system of internal controls.
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26.	Risk management, internal controls and internal audit (contd)
Internal Audit prepares a rolling annual audit plan setting out areas of risk to be reviewed. The plan is based on a risk assessment that
identifies business objectives, key risks impacting those objectives and takes into consideration input from management and other key
stakeholders. The order of priority, the proposed resource requirements and the scope for each audit assignment is decided according to
risk and the direction of the Audit Committee and the Board. The rolling annual internal audit plan is reviewed by the Audit Committee and
approved by the Board.
Internal Audit is responsible for planning, conducting, reporting and following up on audit assignments included in the audit plan, and
deciding on the scope and timing of audits.
Internal Audit reports to management, the Audit Committee and the Board significant issues relating to the processes and activities identified
in an audit assignment including potential improvements to those processes. Internal Audit monitors the timely action by management in
response to audit findings and will be responsible for the formal acceptance of closure of issues on a periodic basis.
Internal Audit has free and unrestricted access to staff and information in order to carry out its work appropriately.

27.	Interest register
The Company has an Interest Register and for the period under review there is no entry recorded in the Register.

28.	Statement of remuneration philosophy
The Company has no written statement of remuneration philosophy but it nevertheless aims to offer fair and competitive compensation
packages.

29. Corporate social responsibility
Lottotech contributes significantly to the Consolidated Fund of the Government of Mauritius. As per the Gambling Regulatory Act 2008,
any money paid into the Consolidated Fund is used to finance the implementation of projects relating to community development, the
promotion of education, health, sports and culture and for reimbursement of public debt of Government.

30. Donations
The Company did not make any donation for the period under review.

31. Environmental policy
Being part of the Gamma Group of Companies, the Company has adhered to the Environmental Policy as contained in the Gamma Charter.
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32. Calendar of events
Meeting		

Date	Subject Matter

Statutory reporting

May 2014

Board approval of Company’s accounts for the first quarter ended 31 March 2014

				

August 2014

Board approval of Company’s accounts for the second quarter ended 30 June 2014

				

November 2014

Board approval of Company’s accounts for the third quarter ended 30 September 2014

				

March 2015

Board approval of Company’s accounts for the year ended 31 December 2014

Dividend declaration & payment

August 2014

Interim dividend declared

				

September 2014

Payment of interim dividend

				

March 2015

Final dividend declared

				

April 2015

Payment of final dividend

Shareholders’ meeting

May 2014

Annual meeting of shareholders

				

33.	Statement of directors’ responsibilities
The Companies Act 2001 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year, which present fairly the financial
position and financial performance of the Company. In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are required to:
a. Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
b. Make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
c. State whether International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) have been followed and complied with, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
d. Keep proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable internal accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company;
e. Safeguard the assets of the Company by maintaining internal accounting and administrative control systems and procedures, and risk
management;
f. Take reasonable steps for the prevention of fraud and other irregularities; and
g. Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in
business
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33.	Statement of directors’ responsibilities (contd)
The Directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial statements.
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records, which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 and
International Financial Reporting Standards. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Board acknowledges that the responsibility of the external auditors is to report on these financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Ishwurlal Golam

Director		

Director		

26th March 2014
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SECRETARY’S REPORT

LOTTOTECH LTD
Under Section 166(d) of the Companies Act 2001
We confirm that, based on records and information made available to us by the directors and shareholders of the Company, the Company
has filed with the Registrar of Companies, for the 18 month period 31 December 2013, all such returns as are required of the Company under
the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

Gamma Corporate Services Ltd
Secretary

26th March 2014
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE shareholders
OF LOTTOTECH LTD
Report on the financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of Lottotech Ltd on pages 30 to 54 which comprise the statement of financial position at 31
December 2013 and the statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 18 month period then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.
Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and in compliance with the requirements of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements on pages 30 to 54 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company at 31 December
2013 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 18 month period then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and comply with the Mauritian Companies Act 2001.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Mauritian Companies Act 2001
The Mauritian Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying out our audit we consider and report to you on the following matters. We
confirm that:
(a) we have no relationship with or interests in the Company other than in our capacities as auditor and tax advisor;
(b) we have obtained all the information and explanations we have required; and
(c) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the Company as far as appears from our examination of those records.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE shareholders
OF LOTTOTECH LTD (contd.)
Financial Reporting Act 2004
The directors are responsible for preparing the corporate governance report. Our responsibility is to report on the extent of compliance with
the Code of Corporate Governance of Mauritius (“Code”) as disclosed in the annual report and on wether the disclosure is consistent with
the requirements of the Code.
In our opinion, the disclosure in the annual report is consistent with requirements of the Code.
Other matters
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance with Section
205 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Mushtaq Oosman
Licensed by FRC

26 March 2014
th
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Note

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December 2013
MUR

Year ended
30 June 2012
MUR

Gross ticket sales

4

3,876,363,745

2,596,359,420

Prizes

4

(1,997,587,441)

(1,338,170,002)

Consolidated Fund

5

(605,063,999)

(729,875,682)

Net income

4

1,273,712,305

528,313,736

Retailers' and other commissions

(214,178,333)

(144,209,322)

Gaming systems and data communication costs

(282,896,903)

(177,926,387)

Gross profit

776,637,069

206,178,027

-

3,962,629

(381,186,015)

(187,229,348)

Other income
Administrative expenses
Operating profit

6

395,451,054

22,911,308

Finance income

7

11,978,335

7,014,683

Finance costs

7

(1,074,075)

(864,139)

Net Finance income

7

10,904,260

6,150,544

406,355,314

29,061,852

(62,895,249)

(9,684,945)

343,460,065

19,376,907

(965,000)

-

(965,000)

-

342,495,065

19,376,907

3,434.60

193.77

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

9

Profit for the period/ year
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit obligations

21

Other comprehensive loss for the period/year
Total comprehensive income for the period/year
Basic and diluted earnings per share

10

The notes on pages 34 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2013

Note

31 December 2013
MUR

30 June 2012
MUR

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

11

229,760,861

252,061,225

Investment in subsidiary

12

-

1,000

Deferred income tax asset

20

-

6,547,264

229,760,861

258,609,489

Current assets
Inventories

13

14,342,748

30,805,909

Trade and other receivables

14

111,581,339

76,236,397

Cash and cash equivalents

15

Total assets

199,507,103

253,586,520

325,431,190

360,628,826

555,192,051

619,238,315

100,000,000

100,000,000

284,912

(92,210,153)

100,284,912

7,789,847

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital

16

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

17

882,315

6,355,167

Deferred income tax liabilities

20

4,677,159

-

Post-employment benefits

21

4,141,000

2,438,000

9,700,474

8,793,167

Current liabilities
Borrowings

17

1,746,805

2,703,494

Trade and other payables

18

389,872,589

599,951,807

Dividend payable

22

40,000,000

-

Current income tax liabilities

9

13,587,271

-

445,206,665

602,655,301

Total liabilities

454,907,139

611,448,468

Total equity and liabilities

555,192,051

619,238,315

Authorised for issue by the Board of directors on and signed on its behalf by:

Chian Tat Ah Teck

Ishwurlal Golam

Director		

Director		

The notes on pages 34 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Share Capital
MUR

Retained Earnings
MUR

Total Equity
MUR

100,000,000

(111,587,060)

(11,587,060)

Profit for the year

-

19,376,907

19,376,907

Total comprehensive income

-

19,376,907

19,376,907

100,000,000

(92,210,153)

7,789,847

Profit for the period

-

343,460,065

343,460,065

Other comprehensive loss for the period

-

(965,000)

(965,000)

Total comprehensive income

-

342,495,065

342,495,065

-

(250,000,000)

(250,000,000)

100,000,000

284,912

100,284,912

Note

At 01 July 2011

Comprehensive income

At 30 June 2012

Comprehensive income

Dividends

At 31 December 2013

22

The notes on pages 34 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Note

Period from
1 July 2012 to
31 December 2013
MUR

Year ended
30 June 2012
MUR

406,355,314

29,061,852

85,589,152

50,324,556

2,315,034

-

-

550,000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

11

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Provision for impairment of receivables

14

Provision for post-employment benefits

21

1,098,000

1,102,000

Inventory write-down

13

30,000,000

8,471,428

Interest expense

7

1,074,075

864,139

Interest income

7

(11,978,335)

(7,014,683)

Operating profit before working capital changes

514,453,240

83,359,292

Increase in inventories

(13,536,839)

(3,078,050)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables

(35,343,942)

25,344,261

(210,079,218)

130,913,220

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

255,493,241

236,538,723

Interest paid

7

(1,074,075)

(864,139)

Interest received

7

11,978,335

7,014,683

Contributions to pension

21

(360,000)

-

(38,083,555)

-

227,953,946

242,689,267

(66,173,822)

(16,200,086)

570,000

-

(65,603,822)

(16,200,086)

-

(110,500,000)

(6,903,750)

(2,584,894)

(210,000,000)

-

(216,903,750)

(113,084,894)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(54,553,626)

113,404,287

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period/year

253,586,520

140,182,233

199,032,894

253,586,520

Income tax paid
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

11

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of bank loan
Finance lease principal payments
Dividends paid

22

Net cash used in financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period/year

15

The notes on pages 34 to 54 form an integral part of these financial statements
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013

1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Mauritius as a private company with limited liability. Its registered office is
situated at Royal Road, Chapman Hill, Beau Bassin, Republic of Mauritius.
The Company is the Operator of the Mauritius National Lottery.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements, which have been consistently applied to all years
presented, unless otherwise stated, are set out below:

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, and are presented in Mauritian Rupees (‘MUR’).
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
the directors to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed below.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

Post-employment benefits
The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number
of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for post-employment benefits include the discount rate. Any
changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of post-employment benefits.
The Actuary determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to determine
the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle the post-employment benefits. In determining the
appropriate discount rate, the Actuary considers the interest rates of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the
benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related post-employment benefits.
Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based in part on current market conditions. Additional information is disclosed in Note 21.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Company
The following standards and amendments have been adopted by the Company for the first time and are mandatory for financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2013:

Standard

Title

IAS 1

Presentation of financial statements

IAS 19

Employee benefits (revised)

IFRS 13

Fair Value Measurement

• T he amendment to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of financial statements’ regarding other comprehensive income. The main change resulting from
these amendments is a requirement for entities to group items presented in ‘other comprehensive income’ (OCI) on the basis of whether
they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). The resulting impact is increased disclosure.
• IAS 19, ‘Employee benefits’ was revised in June 2011. The changes on the Company’s accounting policies has been as follows: to immediately
recognise all past service costs; and to replace interest cost and expected return on plan assets with a net interest amount that is calculated
by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability/(asset). The resulting impact is increased disclosure.
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013 (contd.)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)
(i) New and amended standards adopted by the Company (contd.)
• IFRS 13, ‘Fair value measurement’, aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The requirements, which are largely aligned
between IFRSs and US GAAP, do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its
use is already required or permitted by other standards within IFRSs. The resulting impact is increased disclosure.

(ii) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that are not yet effective and have not
been adopted by the Company
Numerous new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been issued but that are not significant/relevant to
the Company.

2.2 Gross ticket sales
Revenue represents gross ticket sales, which comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of lottery tickets
and scratch cards in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax (VAT), returns, rebates and
discounts.
The Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the Company and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Company’s activities as described below. The Company
bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of game sold, the type of transaction and the specifics of each
arrangement.
Revenue arises across a portfolio of games that includes a draw-based game and scratch cards. For the draw-based game, income is
recognised on a draw-by-draw basis, at the point at which the draw takes place.
Revenue from scratch cards is recognised at the point of sale by retailers.
All revenue is derived from Mauritius and Rodrigues.
The presentation of net income is consistent with common practice within the gaming industry.

2.3 Prizes
The draw-based game is operated under a prize pool mechanism under which a predetermined percentage of the ticket sales is allocated
to prizes. To the extent that the actual prizes won on the draw vary from the predetermined percentage, the relevant prize is carried forward
under a rollover to subsequent draws. The liability for prizes is recognised at the time of the draw in line with the predetermined percentage
for that game.
The liability for scratch cards prizes are recognised as a percentage of ticket sales in line with the theoretical prize payout for that game.
If prizes remain unclaimed for (i) 180 days from the date of the draw-based game and (ii) 90 days from the close of a scratch card game, the
unclaimed prizes are transferred from the prize liability account to the National Solidarity Fund. Those payments are not charged to profit or
loss as they are already included in the prize liability.

2.4 Consolidated Fund
The Consolidated Fund is a fund managed by the Government of Mauritius.
Amount charged to profit or loss represents a percentage arising from gross ticket and scratch card sales net of prize monies paid.

2.5 Retailers’ and other commissions
The Company pays commissions to third party retailers who act as agents on behalf of the Company under a standard commission structure,
fixed at a percentage of total sales. In addition, validation commission is paid on prizes for the draw-based game. A similar commission
structure is applicable for the Field Sales and Technical Representatives in Rodrigues.

2.6 Expenses
Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. All expenses are charged to profit or loss.
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013 (contd.)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)
2.7 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line method to allocate their costs to their residual values over their estimated useful lives as
follows:
Leasehold improvements

3 - 10 years

Equipment

3 - 10 years

Furniture and fittings

10 years

Motor vehicles

6 - 7 years

Depreciation is provided in full in the month of addition and in respect of assets written off and disposed, up to the month of write off and
disposal. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in profit or loss.
Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use. For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at
the lowest level from which there are separately identifiable cash flows.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial year in
which they are incurred.
The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if necessary, at end of each reporting period.
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets.
Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within ‘other income’
in profit or loss.

2.8 Inventories
Inventories are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. The cost includes cost of
instant cards, ticket rolls, bet slips, insurance, freight, customs duty and any other direct costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses. If a Quick Win game does not perform to expectations, the stock of cards is written
off as and when deemed appropriate.

2.9 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for tickets sold in the ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less
(or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), they are classified as current assets.
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Company will
not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the retailer, probability
that the retailer will enter into bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that
the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term investments with original maturities of
three months or less and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

2.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds.
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013 (contd.)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)
2.12 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer).
Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.13 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost; any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liability unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting date.
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent that there is evidence that it
is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over
the period of the facility to which it relates.
Bank overdrafts, bank loans and finance lease liabilities are included in borrowings in the statement of financial position.

2.14 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred income tax and Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) tax. Tax is recognised
in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The directors
periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes. Currently enacted tax rates are used to determine deferred income tax.
The principal temporary differences arise from accelerated capital allowances and provision for post-employment benefits, provision for bad
debts, unrealised exchange differences on revenue items and accumulated tax losses.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised. The directors apply judgment to determine whether sufficient future taxable profit will be available after considering,
amongst others, factors such as cash flows and budgets.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to the income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different entities where there is no intention to settle the balances on a net
basis.

2.15 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. Provisions are not
recognised for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to
passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013 (contd.)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)
2.16 Employee benefits
(a) Post-employment benefits
Employees are entitled to a gratuity payment on retirement under the terms of the Employment Rights Act 2008.
The net present value of post-employment benefits payable under the Employment Rights Act 2008 is calculated by a qualified actuary and is
provided for. The obligations arising from this item is not funded.
Typically defined benefit plans define an amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one
or more factors such as age, years of service and compensation. The liability recognised in the statement of financial position in respect of
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less the fair value of
plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms to maturity
approximating to the terms of the related pension obligation. In countries where there is no deep market in such bonds, the market rates on
government bonds are used.
Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in
other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(b) Short-term employee benefits
Other employee benefits include wages, salaries, social security contributions and travelling. These costs are charged to the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when incurred.
Employee entitlement to annual leave and other benefits are recognised when they accrue to the employees. Provisions are
made for the estimated liability for annual leave and other benefits as a result of services rendered by employees up to the
reporting date.

(c) Defined contribution
The company operates a defined contribution pension plan for certain qualifying employees. The assets of the plan are held separately from
those of the company in funds under the control of an independent management committee. Where employees leave the plan prior to full
vesting of the contributions, the contributions payable by the company are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. Any residual
gratuities under the Employment Rights Act 2008 for the qualifying employees after allowing for permitted deductions in respect of the
pension plan are included in the post-employment benefits in respect of The Employment Rights Act 2008.

(d) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Company before the normal retirement date, or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Company recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Company can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a
restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.
In the case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the number of employees
expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their present
value.

(e) Profit-sharing and bonus plans
The Company recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Company recognises a provision where contractually obliged or
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.
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Notes to the financial statements - 31 December 2013 (contd.)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contd.)
2.17 Finance leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases.
Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on a straight-line
basis over the period of the lease.
The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company has substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s commencement at the
lower of the fair value of the lease property and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in non-current liabilities. The interest element of the finance charge is charged to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period. Property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of the assets useful life and
the lease term.

2.18 Investment in subsidiary
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from
contingent consideration amendments. Cost also includes direct attributable costs of investment.
The Company has taken advantage of paragraph 4 of IFRS 10, consolidated and separate financial statements which dispenses it from
the preparation of consolidated financial statements, as it is a subsidiary of Gamma-Civic Ltd, which itself prepares consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs. The consolidated financial statements of Gamma-Civic Ltd are available for public use at its registered
office at Royal Road, Chapman Hill, Beau Bassin, Republic of Mauritius. The shareholders do not object to the company not presenting
consolidated financial statements in these circumstances.

2.19 Financial instruments
Classification
The Company classifies its financial assets as ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets
were acquired. The directors determine the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They
are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date. These are classified as non-current
assets. The Company’s loans and receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement of
financial position.

Recognition and measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

2.20 Segment information
Segmental reporting is based on the internal reports regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources
to the segment and to assess their performance. The operating segment is the gaming segment.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk (foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk); credit risk
and liquidity risk. A description of the significant risk factors is given below together with the risk management policies applicable.
The Company’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Company’s performance.
Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors.

Financial instruments by category

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables

Financial assets
Trade and other receivables

111,413,833

72,353,444

Cash and cash equivalents

199,507,103

253,586,520

310,920,936

325,939,964

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

2,629,120

9,058,661

389,872,589

599,951,807

392,501,709

609,010,468

Market risk
(i) Currency risk
Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not
the entity’s functional currency.
The Company carries its operations locally and therefore is not exposed to foreign exchange risk except for transactions with suppliers and
bank accounts denominated in foreign currency, which are mainly United States dollars (“USD”). As such, the Company is exposed to the
exchange rate movement of the Mauritian rupee against the United States dollars.
The currency profile of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities which are denominated in foreign currency is summarised as follows:

Mauritian Rupee
United States Dollar
Euro
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31 December 2013
MUR

31 December 2013
MUR

30 June 2012
MUR

30 June 2012
MUR

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

Financial assets

Financial liabilities

305,011,113

389,327,430

313,837,629

601,367,922

3,436,964

3,174,279

9,842,406

7,642,546

2,472,859

-

2,259,929

-

310,920,936

392,501,709

325,939,964

609,010,468
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd.)
Market risk (contd.)
(i) Currency risk (contd.)
Prepayments amounting to MUR167,506 (2012 - MUR3,882,953) have not been included in the financial assets and liabilities.
At 31 December 2013, if the Mauritian rupee (“MUR”) had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the United States dollar (“USD”) with all
other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the period would have increased/decreased by MUR13,134 (2012 – MUR109,993), mainly as
a result of currency differences on translation of USD denominated trade payables and bank balances.
At 31 December 2013, if the Mauritian rupee (“MUR”) had weakened/strengthened by 5% against the EURO (“EUR”) with all other variables
held constant, pre-tax profit for the period would have increased/decreased by MUR123,643 (2012 - MUR112,996), mainly as a result of
currency differences on translation of EUR denominated trade payables and bank balances.
The Company has not engaged in any hedging transactions to mitigate its risks relating to exchange rate fluctuations.
The directors believe that a 5% shift in foreign exchange rate is an appropriate basis for the sensitivity analysis.

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Company’s income and operating cash flows may be affected by changes in market interest rates. The Company’s policy is to maximise
returns on interest-bearing assets.
The cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and overdraft balance carry interest at variable rates and therefore expose the Company to
interest rate risk.
At 31 December 2013, if interest rate on cash and cash equivalents, bank loans and overdraft balance had been 50 basis points higher/lower
with all other variables held constant, the pre-tax profit for the period would be MUR984,390 higher/lower (2012 - MUR1,267,933) mainly as
a result of higher/lower interest income earned on bank balances.

(iii) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on Company-wide basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to customers,
including outstanding receivables.
For cash and cash equivalents, the Company manages its credit risk by banking with reputable financial institutions. The directors assess the
credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based
on internal ratings in accordance with limits set by the management. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.
The maximum exposure with respect to credit risk arise from default of the counter party with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amount of the Company’s financial assets. Management is of view that credit risk exposure is low at 31 December 2013.
The directors believe that the Company has no significant concentration of credit risk and services are rendered to retailers with an
appropriate credit history.
The aged analysis of trade receivables is disclosed in Note 14.

(iv) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an adequate amount of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close our market positions.
The table below analyses the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturing groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting
date to maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are contractual undiscounted cash flows.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd.)
Market risk (contd.)
(iv) Liquidity risk (contd.)

At call
MUR

Less than
one year
MUR

Between 1 to
5 years
MUR

Total
MUR

As at 31 December 2013
Liabilities
Bank overdraft
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

474,209

-

-

474,209

-

1,397,730

908,299

2,306,029

-

389,872,589

-

389,872,589

474,209

391,270,319

908,299

392,652,827

-

3,389,117

6,900,986

10,290,103

As at 30 June 2012
Liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

-

599,951,807

-

599,951,807

-

603,340,924

6,900,986

610,241,910

(v) Fair values
The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, cash in hand and at bank, borrowings and trade and other payables approximate
their fair values.
The fair values are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

(vi) Capital risk management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going-concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including current and non – current borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated
as ‘equity’ as shown in the statement of financial position plus net debt.
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3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contd.)
Market risk (contd.)
(vi) Capital risk management (contd.)
The gearing ratios at 31 December 2013 and 30 June 2012 were as follows:

Total borrowings (Note 17)
Less cash and cash equivalents (Note 15)
Net cash

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

2,629,120

9,058,661

(199,507,103)

(253,586,520)

(196,877,983)

(244,527,859)

Total equity

100,284,912

7,789,847

Total capital

(96,593,071)

(236,738,012)

Gearing ratio

0%

0%

Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

Gross ticket sales

3,876,363,745

2,596,359,420

Draw-based game

3,028,316,640

1,939,516,580

848,047,105

656,842,840

(1,997,587,441)

(1,338,170,002)

(605,063,999)

(729,875,682)

1,273,712,305

528,313,736

Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

(867,243,140)

(729,875,682)

262,179,141

-

(605,063,999)

(729,875,682)

The Company is not geared at 31 December 2013 and 30 June 2012.

4. NET INCOME

Scratch cards
Prizes
Consolidated Fund (Note 5)

5. CONSOLIDATED FUND

Consolidated Fund charges for the period/year
Provision for Consolidated Fund charges written back
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5. CONSOLIDATED FUND (contd.)
On 30 October 2012, in the Supreme Court of Mauritius (Mediation Division), the following agreement was reached among Lottotech Ltd and
the Gambling Regulatory Authority and The Ministry of Finance and Economic Empowerment:
• L ottotech Ltd shall, with effect from 1st July 2012, pay 46.16% of the net proceeds from lottery games to the Consolidated Fund instead of
the original 58.01% in accordance with the terms and conditions of the licence issued to it by the Gambling Regulatory Authority under
section 59 of the Act.
• Lottotech Ltd shall pay into the Consolidated Fund the sum of MUR131,600,000 to make good its contribution for the period ended 30 June 2012
MUR
Consolidated Fund provision as at 01 July 2012

482,351,390

Net movement in the Consolidated Fund provision in the period July 2012 to October 2012

(88,572,249)

Consolidated Fund payment as per the Supreme Court (Mediation Division)

(131,600,000)

Provision for Consolidated Fund charges written back

262,179,141

6. OPERATING PROFIT
The following items have been charged in arriving at the operating profit:
Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

Staff costs (Note 8)

142,384,732

90,147,285

Management fee (Note 19 (i))

104,294,001

40,651,868

Marketing administrative expenses

24,426,657

12,260,786

Legal and professional fees

44,383,653

3,431,770

Rent and utilities

26,579,861

15,487,201

5,971,857

5,023,721

Audit services

620,000

550,000

Other services

105,000

35,000

Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

Motor vehicle expenses
Fees payable to auditor for:

7. NET FINANCE INCOME

Interest expense on:
Bank overdraft

(808,417)

(297,789)

Leases

(265,658)

(566,350)

(1,074,075)

(864,139)

Interest income on:
Bank balances
Net finance income
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7,014,683

10,904,260
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8. STAFF COSTS
Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

130,911,675

83,755,113

Staff welfare benefits

6,716,220

4,312,220

Defined contribution costs

3,658,837

977,952

Wages and salaries

Post-employment benefits

1,098,000

1,102,000

142,384,732

90,147,285

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
The Company is liable to income tax on its profits, as adjusted for income tax purposes, at the rate of 17% (2012 – 15%). The 17% tax rate
consists of 15% corporate income tax and 2% Corporate Social Responsibility.
(a) Charge for the period/year
Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

Based on profit for the period/year, as adjusted for tax purposes

51,670,826

-

(Under)/overprovision of deferred tax assets in previous year
(Note 20)

(5,356,112)

4,831,536

Deferred income tax charge (Note 20)

17,453,504

4,853,409

(872,969)

-

62,895,249

9,684,945

Impact of change in tax rate
Income tax expense

(b) Current income tax liabilities
Income tax liabilities are MUR13,587,271 in 2013 (2012 – MURnil).
A reconciliation between the actual rate of income tax charge of MUR62,895,249 (2012 – MUR9,684,945) and the tax calculated at the
applicable income tax rate of 17% (2012 – 15%) is as follows:

Profit before taxation
Tax on the profit as adjusted for tax purposes at 17% (2012 –15%)
Non-tax deductible expense
(Under)/overprovision of deferred tax assets in prior year (Note 20)
Change in tax rate (Note 20)
Effective income tax charge

Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended 30 June
2012
MUR

406,355,314

29,061,852

69,080,403

4,359,278

43,927

494,131

(5,356,112)

4,831,536

(872,969)

-

62,895,249

9,684,945

At 31 December 2013, it had no accumulated tax losses (2012: MUR109,994,442).
The change in the tax rate is due to the CSR paid being calculated on a chargeable income basis as from 1 January 2012 rather
than book profit.
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Period from 1
July 2012 to 31
December 2013

Year ended 30 June
2012

Profit attributable to shareholders (MUR)

343,460,065

19,376,907

Number of shares entitled to dividends

100,000

100,000

Basic and diluted earnings per share (MUR)

3,434.60

193.77

There are no dilutive instruments.

11. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold
improvement
MUR

Equipment
MUR

Furniture and
fittings
MUR

Motor vehicles
MUR

Total
MUR

72,859,280

258,756,178

14,913,344

12,027,236

358,556,038

Cost:
At 01 July 2011

1,201,264

8,500,190

507,471

5,991,161

16,200,086

74,060,544

267,256,368

15,420,815

18,018,397

374,756,124

Additions

2,247,768

57,200,315

38,372

6,687,367

66,173,822

Disposals

-

-

-

(8,145,000)

(8,145,000)

76,308,312

324,456,683

15,459,187

16,560,764

432,784,946

18,986,222

47,823,737

2,895,213

2,665,171

72,370,343

Additions
At 30 June 2012

At 31 December 2013
Accumulated depreciation:
At 01 July 2011

10,752,851

32,218,296

4,739,434

2,613,975

50,324,556

29,739,073

80,042,033

7,634,647

5,279,146

122,694,899

23,356,360

55,096,554

1,545,990

5,590,248

85,589,152

-

-

-

(5,259,966)

(5,259,966)

53,095,433

135,138,587

9,180,637

5,609,428

203,024,085

At 31 December 2013

23,212,879

189,318,096

6,278,550

10,951,336

229,760,861

At 30 June 2012

44,321,471

187,214,335

7,786,168

12,739,251

252,061,225

Charge for the year
At 30 June 2012
Charge for the period
Disposals
At 31 December 2013
Net book value:

Depreciation expense of MUR85,589,152 (2012 – MUR50,324,556) has been charged in Gaming systems and data telecommunication costs.
Included in the net book value of property, plant and equipment are 5 motor vehicles (2012 – 17) held under finance lease amounting to
MUR3,152,372 (2012 – MUR5,604,106).
The Company leases various vehicles under non-cancellable finance lease agreements. The lease terms are between five and six years and
ownership of the assets lie with the Company.
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12. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

Cost:
At 01 July
Disposal

1,000

1,000

( 1,000)

-

-

1000

At 31 December/30 June

The Company disposed of its investment in its 100% subsidiary, namely Gamlot Technologies Ltd at cost on 31 December 2013. Details of the
Company’s direct interest in its subsidiary company as at 30 June 2012, which is incorporated in Mauritius, are as follows:
Name of
Company

Country of
incorporation

Activities

Year of
incorporation

Description of
shares held

Effective
percentage holding

Gamlot
Technologies Ltd

Mauritius

Leasing of
equipment

2011

Ordinary shares

100%

13. INVENTORIES
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

40,894,962

30,944,979

Cost:
Instant cards
Ticket rolls, bet slips and others
Inventory write-down

3,447,786

8,332,358

(30,000,000)

(8,471,428)

14,342,748

30,805,909

Inventory consumed during the period amounted to MUR45,540,440 (2012 – MUR39,531,303). The inventory write-down arose as a result of
a change in the estimate of usability of instant cards.

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables
Provision for impairment of receivables

Prepayments and deposits
Receivables from related parties (Note 19(ii))
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31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

102,611,916

24,458,640

(3,162,474)

(3,162,474)

99,449,442

21,296,166

2,098,263

4,098,218

10,033,634

50,842,013

111,581,339

76,236,397
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14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (contd.)
The fair value of trade and other receivables approximates its carrying amounts as the effect of discounting is not significant. All trade and
other receivables are due within one year of the reporting date.
At 31 December 2013, trade receivables of MUR99,449,442 (2012 – MUR21,296,166) were considered as neither past due nor impaired. These
receivables relate to retailers who have a history of prompt settlement and who were still within the credit limit allowed to them.
At 31 December 2013, trade receivables of MUR3,162,474 (2012 – MUR3,162,474) were impaired for. The ageing analysis of these trade
receivables is as follows:

Over 5 days

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

3,162,474

3,162,474

3,162,474

3,162,474

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

3,162,474

2,612,474

The movement in provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is as follows:

At 01 July
Increase in provision
At 31 December/30 June

-

550,000

3,162,474

3,162,474

The provision for impaired receivables has been included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Amounts
charged to the provision account are generally written off when there are no expectations of recovering additional cost.
All items within trade and other receivables are denominated in Mauritian Rupees and no collaterals are held against trade and other
receivables at the end of the reporting period.

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following for the purpose of statement of cash flows:

Cash at bank and in hand
Bank overdraft (Note 17)

LOTTOTECH LTD 2013 ANNUAL REPORT

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

199,507,103

253,586,520

(474,209)

-

199,032,894

253,586,520
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16. SHARE CAPITAL
31 December
2013
Number

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
Number

30 June
2012
MUR

100,000

100,000,000

100,000

100,000,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of no par value each

17. BORROWINGS
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

882,315

6,355,167

474,209

-

Non-current:
Finance leases
Current:
Bank overdraft (Note 15)
Finance leases
Total Borrowings

1,272,596

2,703,494

1,746,805

2,703,494

2,629,120

9,058,661

(a) Bank borrowings
The Company has a bank overdraft facility of MUR50,000,000. The bank overdraft is secured by a first rank floating charge on all assets of the Company.
(b) Finance leases
The obligations under finance lease relate to motor vehicles with lease term between five and six years. The Company has the option to
purchase the leased assets for a nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease agreements.
The obligations under finance leases are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the lessor in the event of default. The
rates of interest are of a fixed nature. The fair value of obligations under finance leases approximates their carrying amount.
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

1,397,730

3,389,117

Amount falling due:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years

Future finance charges on finance leases
Present values of finance lease liabilities

908,299

6,900,986

2,306,029

10,290,103

(151,118)

(1,231,442)

2,154,911

9,058,661

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

The present values of finance lease liabilities should be as follows:
Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year but within 5 years
Present values of finance lease liabilities
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2,703,494

882,315

6,355,167

2,154,911

9,058,661
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18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables and accruals
Amount due to related parties (Note 19(ii))
Prize liability and reserve fund
Unclaimed prize
Consolidated Fund

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

23,398,284

51,405,581

52,609,006

8,722,749

156,132,387

38,826,609

26,254,330

18,645,478

131,478,582

482,351,390

389,872,589

599,951,807

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The directors consider Gamma-Civic Ltd, a company incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Mauritius, as the parent and ultimate
controlling party.
(i) Transactions carried out with related parties:

Management fee charged by a fellow subsidiary of Gamma-Civic Ltd (Note 6)

Period from
1 July 2012 to 31
December
2013
MUR

Year ended
30 June
2012
MUR

104,294,001

40,651,868

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

236,951

24,391,425

-

26,450,588

(ii) Period/year-end balances arising from transactions with related parties:

Amounts receivable from related parties (Note 14):
Fellow subsidiary
Immediate subsidiary
Ultimate parent

9,796,683

-

10,033,634

50,842,013

The amounts receivable from related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
The receivables from related parties pertain to amounts paid by the Company on behalf of the related parties for the purchase of lottery
equipment and software.
During the period ended 31 December 2013, the Company provided no advances (2012 – MURnil) to its ultimate parent. The advances
carried interest charge at 6% per annum.
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

-

-

52,609,006

8,722,749

52,609,006

8,722,749

Amounts payable to related parties (Note 18):
Ultimate parent
Fellow subsidiaries

The amounts payable to related parties are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.
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19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (contd.)
(iii) Key management compensation
Key management personnel include directors. The compensation paid or payable to key management personnel for employee services is
shown below:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits

Period from
1 July 2012 to 31
December
2013
MUR

Year ended
30 June
2012
MUR

54,415,327

42,162,407

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

(iv) Loans to related parties

At 01 July

-

8,615,669

Loan repayments received

-

(8,615,669)

At 31 December/30 June

-

-

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

(6,547,264)

(16,232,209)

20. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS)
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

At 01 July
Charge to profit or loss (Note 9)

11,224,423

9,684,945

At 31 December/30 June

4,677,159

(6,547,264)

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

(872,969)

-

(5,356,112)

4,831,536

Movement in deferred tax:
Effect of change in tax rate
(Under)/overprovision of deferred tax assets in prior year
Deferred income tax charge
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17,453,504

4,853,409

11,224,423

9,684,945
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20. DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES/(ASSETS) (contd.)
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) is as follows:

31 December 2013

Accelerated
capital
allowances
MUR

Postemployment
benefits
MUR

Provision
for doubtful
debts
MUR

Accumulated
tax losses
MUR

Unrealised
gains/ losses
MUR

Total
MUR

At 01 July 2012

10,894,439

(365,700)

(474,371)

(16,499,167)

(102,465)

(6,547,264)

Effect of change in tax rate (Note 9)

1,452,592

(48,761)

(63,250)

(2,199,888)

(13,662)

(872,969)

Charge/(Credit) to income statement (Note 9)

(1,236,218)

(125,460)

-

18,699,055

116,127

17,453,504

Underprovision of deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
in prior year (Note 9)

(5,356,112)

-

-

-

-

(5,356,112)

At 31 December 2013

5,754,701

(539,921)

(537,621)

-

-

4,677,159

Accelerated
capital
allowances
MUR

Postemployment
benefits
MUR

Provision
for doubtful
debts
MUR

Accumulated
tax losses
MUR

Unrealised
gains/ losses
MUR

Total
MUR

18,443,122

(200,400)

(391,871)

(34,159,040)

75,980

(16,232,209)

(7,548,683)

(165,300)

(82,500)

12,828,337

(178,445)

4,853,409

30 June 2012

At 01 July 2011
Charge/(Credit) to income statement (Note 9)
Overprovision of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) in
prior year (Note 9)
At 30 June 2012
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-

-

-

4,831,536

-

4,831,536

10,894,439

(365,700)

(474,371)

(16,499,167)

(102,465)

(6,547,264)
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21. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
The Company participates in a multi-employer defined contribution pension plan to which it contributes 6%, 8% or 10% of its eligible
employees’ salaries depending on age. These contributions amounted to MUR3,658,837 for the 18 months ended 31 December 2013
(year ended 30 June 2012 – MUR977,952).
In addition, the Company has recognised a net defined benefit liability of MUR4,141,000 in its Statement of Financial Position as at
31 December 2013 (30 June 2012: MUR2,438,000) in respect of any additional retirement gratuities that are expected to be paid out of the
Company’s cashflow to its employees under the Employment Rights Act 2008.
The amount recognised in the statement of financial position is as follows:
Period from
1 July 2012 to 31
December 2013
MUR

Year ended
30 June
2012
MUR

775,000

968,000

Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Current service cost
Interest cost

323,000

134,000

1,098,000

1,102,000

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income
Liability experience gain
Liability loss due to change in financial assumptions

(1,174,000)

-

2,139,000

-

965,000

-

31 December
MUR

30 June
MUR

2,438,000

1,336,000

1,098,000

1,102,000

Movements in liability recognised in statement of financial position
At start of period/year
Amounts recognised in profit or loss
Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income

965,000

-

(360,000)

-

4,141,000

2,438,000

Discount rate

7.50%

10.00%

Future salary increases

6.50%

8.00%

60

60

Contributions and direct benefits paid
At end of period/year
Principal actuarial assumptions at end of period/year

Average retirement age (ARA)
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21. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (contd.)
31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

2,438,000

1,336,000

775,000

968,000

Interest cost

323,000

134,000

Benefits paid

(360,000)

-

Reconciliation of the present value of defined benefit obligation:
Present value of obligation at start of period/year
Current service cost

Liability loss/(gain)
Present value of obligation at end of period/year

965,000

(164,000)

4,141,000

2,274,000

22. DIVIDENDS
The Company declared dividends of MUR250,000,000 in the 18 month period ended 31 December 2013 (2012 – MURnil) of which
MUR40,000,000 was payable as at 31 December 2013.

23. COMMITMENTS
The company leases its offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease terms are for 5 years.
The future aggregate minimum lease payments under the non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Not later than one year
Later than 1 year and no later than 5 years
Total

31 December
2013
MUR

30 June
2012
MUR

12,291,125

12,203,438

4,246,357

18,787,276

16,537,482

30,990,714

24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Company that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segments and to assess their performance.
The Company has only one reportable operating segment based on its business activities, which is the Gaming segment. As such, the
required disclosures for the 18 month period ended 31 December 2013 and the year ended 30 June 2012 are already included in the financial
statements.
The accounting policies of the operating segment are the same as those described in Note 2.20.

25. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING YEAR END
The Company has changed its accounting year end from 30 June to 31 December, and the accounts have been prepared for 18 month period
ended 31 December 2013 compared to 12 months for the year ended 30 June 2012.

26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There were no significant subsequent events since the end of the period reported on.
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